FILED 7-14-16

Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 74026-1-I King County Superior Court No. 13-1-09535-8

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SOPHIA DELAFUENTE,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Timothy A. Bradshaw, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

##

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the charges pursuant to CrR 8.3(b).
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion and violated Delafuente's right to a speedy trial when it continued her trial because no judicial officer was available.
- 3. The trial court violated Delafuente's right to be present and right to counsel when the two continuances were granted when neither she nor her counsel were present. As a result, Delafuente had no opportunity to timely object to the continuance of her trial.
- 4. The prosecutor committed misconduct when she argued that

  Delafuente could be convicted as an accomplice if a reasonable person

  would have known that Garcia-Mendez and Howard were going to assault
  the victim.
- 5. The prosecutor committed misconduct when she argued that Delafuente or her accomplices intended to "execute" the victim.

# II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where the King County Jail recorded Delafuente's call with her lawyer, Detective Stangeland listened to a portion of that call, the State destroyed evidence relating to the call and the State delayed telling

Delafuente about Stangeland's activity and her similar actions in other cases, should this prosecution be dismissed under CrR 8.3(b)?

- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion and violate Delafuente's right to a speedy trial when it continued her trial because no judicial officer was available, but made no findings to support that ruling?
- 3. Did the trial court violate Delafuente's right to be present and right to counsel when the two continuances were granted when neither she nor her counsel were present and where Delafuente had no opportunity to timely object to the continuance of her trial?
- 4. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when she argued that Delafuente could be convicted as an accomplice if a reasonable person would have known that Garcia-Mendez and Howard were going to assault the victim?
- 5. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when she argued that Delafuente or her accomplices intended to "execute" the victim?

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL FACTS

Juan Garcia-Mendez, Darreson Howard and Sophia Delafuente were charged with the first-degree assault of Richard Powell on April 1, 2013. Garcia-Mendez was the principal and the State alleged that Howard

and Delafuente were accomplices. CP 22-24. Delafuente was also charged with rendering criminal assistance for hindering or delaying the apprehension of Garcia-Mendez and Howard. *Id.* 

Garcia-Mendez's charges were severed from those of Howard and Delafuente. He was convicted and his appeal is pending in *State v*. *Garcia-Mendez*, No. 74110-1-I.

Delafuente and Howard were joined for trial. The State offered Delafuente an opportunity to plead guilty to reduced charges but only if Howard also entered a plea. 8/10/15 RP 39. When Howard refused to enter a plea, Delafuente was forced into trial on the greater charges. *Id.* 

A jury convicted both Delafuente and Howard as charged. This timely appeal followed. CP 74-76. Howard also appealed. *State v. Howard*, No. 74054-7-I.

#### B. MOTION TO DISMISS

On March 3, 2015, the parties appeared for a pretrial status conference. 3/3/15 RP 5. They agreed that they would all be ready for trial at the next omnibus hearing scheduled for March 23, 2015. Trial was scheduled for March 30, 2015.

Despite the fact that the State knew that investigating Detective

Donna Stangeland listened to a recorded jail call between Delafuente and
her lawyer, the State did not disclose that information until after the March

3, 2015 hearing. The State also neglected to disclose that Stangeland had previously read and the shredded attorney-client correspondence in *State v. Guantai*, No. 05-1-05673-4 SEA. The State later said that it had not done so because "the State does not believe that such information is *Brady* material or otherwise discoverable." CP 138. In the State's view, this information did not "call into question Detective Stangeland's credibility. *Id.* 

Another status conference was held on March 31, 2015. By that time, the defense had learned of the call and had asked for discovery regarding Detective Stangeland's actions in this case and the *Guantai* case. As a result, the defense was forced to seek a continuance of the trial date. CP 125.

On May 1, 2015, another status conference was held. It became clear that Stangeland had also listened to attorney-client calls in *State v*. *Alan Duffy*, No. 15-1-00427-8. 5/1/15 RP 32. The State was still resisting Delafuente's motion to compel records of Stangeland's activities. *Id.* at 37-41, 43. The King County Jail also averred that it was not responsible for discovery regarding the recorded phone calls and told the court that the defense must contact the phone contractor, Securus. *Id.* at 46. The trial had to be continued June 1, 2015. CP 126.

After eventually receiving the entire discovery, Delafuente moved to dismiss under CrR 8.3, CrR 3.3, CrR 4.7, RCW 9.73.030, *State v. Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014), and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). CP 127-131.

On June 5, 2014, the trial court held a hearing on this motion. The evidence demonstrated that on April 1, 2014, the James Bible Law Group emailed the King County Jail and asked them to place his law firm on the "Do Not Record" list. CP 152. Anna Gigliotti of the James Bible Law Group appeared as Delafuente's counsel in November 2014. On February 9, 2015, Stangeland listened to the beginning of an attorney-client jail phone call from Delafuente to Gigliotti.

Although Stangeland had no training on jail phone call interception, she can listen to jail telephone calls from her desktop computer. 6/5/15 RP 14-16. Beginning in 2014, the vendor for the telephone system added that feature. Prior to that, police officers had to ask the jail for all of the CDs of jail calls to listen to them. According to Stangeland, she had been listening to Delafuente's jail phone calls sporadically, beginning in April 2013. She said that the prosecutors prosecuting this case knew of her activities. 6/5/15 RP 21-23.

Stangeland said that she did not listen to all calls made by Delafuente. She picks and chooses when to listen. She said:

It's somewhat random. I try to listen to the most recent ones if there's been a delay where I haven't listened to any in a while. I'll try to do the ones that are most recent. Sometimes I'll try to do the ones right before a court hearing or right after a court hearing. I've tried to, or I will target sometimes phone numbers to which I think they'll be more likely to have a conversation about the case itself.

6/5/15 RP 23. Stangeland said that after listening to a defendant's jail calls for a while, you know who they are contacting and who they might discuss the case with. *Id*.

Stangeland admitted this was not her first problem with intercepting attorney-client privileged communications. She admitted she had done so the week before in *Duffy*. 6/5/15 RP 16. In 2005, she had intercepted emails between an attorney and a client, read them, and then shredded them in *Guantai*.

Finally, Detective Stangeland testified that although she could listen to the preamble on the phone calls, which would indicate what warning was being given to the caller, she ordinarily fast-forwarded through that information. 6/5/15 RP 11.

There was no way to confirm Detective Stangeland's testimony that she hung up quickly because the State destroyed the call. The State's excuse was that they did not want to have anyone else inadvertently listen to the call. 6/5/15 RP 28.

Delafuente argued that Stangeland's actions, the State's delay in telling the defense and the State's failure to provide the information that Stangeland had done this before, required dismissal. Delafuente argued that she was prejudiced because she had to choose between having a speedy trial and the need to have all of the information to impeach Stangeland. 6/5/15 RP 26-28.

The trial court found that, while the jail's original decision to record telephone calls was for security, it was "clear that that is no longer the reason." *Id.* at 49.

Having decided that the police have access via an officer's department-provided computer to these calls simply by clicking on a desktop icon, it's clear to the court that this is an investigative tool ancillary to any security purpose.

Id.

The Court found, however, that Stangeland was credible when she said that she did not listen to any privileged conversation. He denied the motion with the caveat that he was open to additional argument on the "*Brady*-type issue" – that is, whether the destruction of the jail call should cause dismissal of the charges. *Id*.

#### C. THE TRIAL CONTINUANCES

The trial had to be continued because of the State's failure to timely disclose Stangeland's actions. Stangeland notified the prosecutor

of her actions on February 9, 1015. Pretrial Exhibits 1-3. But, the prosecutor did not notify Delafuente's counsel until roughly six weeks later. 3/31/15 RP 10. The case was then continued at least 10 more times because the prosecutor was in trial in another case.

On August 3, 2015, the trial court continued the trial to August 5, 2015. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (Order Continuing Trial filed 8/3/15). On August 5, 2015, the trial was continued to August 6, 2015. A judge checked a box on a form that stated "no judicial availability." Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (Order Continuing Trial filed 8/5/15). This order appears to have been entered without a hearing. The defendant and counsel did not sign the Order. On August 6, 2015, the trial was again continued to August 10, 2015. A judged checked a box on a form that stated "no judicial availability." Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (Order Continuing Trial filed 8/6/15). Again, this order appears to have been entered without a hearing. And again, the defendant and counsel did not sign the Order.

Trial commenced on August 10, 2015.

#### D. THE ASSAULT

On April 1, 2013, Richard Powell was shot 3 times near 2353 S.W. Charlestown Street in West Seattle. Powell had been standing outside his town car at about 11:00 to 11:15 p.m. 8/19/15 RP 509. According to him, a car pulled up and two men jumped out and one pulled a gun. *Id.* at 518.

The only other thing he remembered was that the man with the gun told him to empty his pockets. 8/19/15 RP 519.

Powell had his own gun and shot back. It was later determined that the gunman was Garcia-Mendez.

Earlier that evening, Leon Gordon had been walking along Alki. 8/31/15 RP 1180. A car passed him, and then turned off its lights and slowed down. *Id.* at 1185. Two people got out of the car, completely covered. *Id.* at 1186-87. Later, he identified one person from a photo montage. *Id.* at 1194.

One of the two asked Gordon if he was "gang banging." *Id.* at 1190. Gordon said: "No" and walked away. *Id.* One of the two was male; he could not tell if the other one was male or female. *Id.* at 1198. Neither person displayed a gun. *Id.* at 1198.

Sophia Delafuente admitted to the police that she was driving when "Juan was shot." 8/27/15 RP 1038. There was no direct evidence to establish that she was driving when Gordon was approached by Howard and Garcia-Mendez.

The State submitted grainy surveillance video from the area where Powell and Garcia-Mendez exchanged fire. The State argued that the video shows Delafuente passing the street where Powell was standing,

making a U-turn, coming back and pulling into an alley nearby. The State's theory was that the three had a plan to "attack and rob someone."

On April 1, 2013, the police were dispatched to SW Charlestown Street and Avalon Way in Seattle. 8/18/15 RP 459. The police found Rick Powell lying in the street injured. *Id.* at 466. There was a .9 millimeter semi-automatic handgun a couple of feet just to the west of him. *Id.* Emergency personnel arrived and took Powell to the hospital. There were video cameras at the intersection. 8/18/15 RP 474. On re-direct, the prosecutor asked, "Does this incident stand out in your memory?" *Id.* at 477. The officer testified that it did because

It's not very often that you have a situation like this where you're able to do CPR on somebody that everything kind of lines up as far as the time frame and stopping, you're able to bring somebody else back. So it's something that you remember. I'll probably remember it for the rest of my life.

Id. at 477-78.

Powell testified that he was a limousine driver. 8/19/15 RP 500-18. He carried a Glock 19.9 mm pistol. *Id.* at 519. He dropped off a fare on April 1, 2013, just prior to 11:15 p.m. *Id.* at 522. He pulled over on Avalon and Charlestown to have a smoke. A car drove past and two individuals approached him. *Id.* at 524. One of them flashed a gun at him saying, "empty your pockets," so he reached for his gun. *Id.* at 524. Then, he felt a shot entering his body. He does not remember shooting his own

gun. 8/19/15 RP 525. The last thing he remembered was calling 911. *Id.* at 528. He was shot in the chest three times. *Id.* at 528. He still has a bullet in his spine that was too difficult to remove. *Id.* at 529.

Clinton Cody Hurd lived on Avalon and Charlestown. *Id.* at 568. On the evening of April 1, 2013, he heard three popping sounds and looked out his living room window. He saw a silver car parked outside the house. Then he saw two people run up to the car, get in the back and the car sped off down the alley. *Id.* at 571. Hurd testified that the silver car was running the entire time it was parked in front of his house. *Id.* at 583.

Another neighbor, Ashley Bissell, also heard gunshots at about 11:00 p.m. *Id.* at 593. She went to the window and heard somebody say "Let's go, let's go, we gotta go." *Id.* at 595. She indicated that it was a male voice, *Id.* at 595.

Delafuente's fingerprints were found in the vehicle that left the scene. 8/20/15 RP 725.

#### E. CLOSING ARGUMENT

The State began its closing argument as follows:

Thank you, Your Honor. Counsel, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, it should be very clear to you now that on April 1st, 2013, Richard Powell was the victim of horrific violence. Unprovoked, senseless stranger violence, the type of violence that we may hope to only ever see on TV....

Without the heroic efforts of the first responding officers, the first responding medics, and Harborview Medical Center, you would be sitting here on a homicide trial. But for medical intervention, the defendants would have successfully executed Mr. Powell.

#### 9/1/15 RP 1352-53.

Later in argument, the State said:

Less than five minutes later, she pulls past Charlestown, pulls her car off the road, turns her car back around, and pulls up next to Mr. Powell and delivers the two people that nearly ended Mr. Powell's life, and she wants to say to you, I had no idea what was going on.

It defies common sense. We ask you as jurors and we interrogate you about any biases, any prejudice, any preconceived notions and we ask you to judge this case on the facts, the evidence, and the law as given to you by the Court. But no one ever has or ever will ask you to check your common sense at the door.

Your instructions are replete with the use of the word "reasonable," and a reasonable person standard. And is it at all reasonable that these two individuals didn't know exactly what was going to go down? That Juan Garcia-Mendez and Darreson Howard were going to try and rob and assault Mr. Powell? That Juan Garcia-Mendez was armed and that someone might get shot?

*Id.* at 1373.

## IV. ARGUMENT

A. WHERE THE KING COUNTY JAIL RECORDED DELAFUENTE'S CALL TO HER LAWYER, DETECTIVE STANGELAND LISTENED TO A PORTION OF THAT CALL, THE STATE DESTROYED EVIDENCE RELATING TO THE CALL AND DELAYED TELLING DELAFUENTE ABOUT STANGELAND'S ACTIVITY AND HER SIMILAR ACTIONS IN OTHER CASES, SHOULD THIS PROSECUTION BE DISMISSED UNDER CRR 8.3(B)?

This Court reviews a trial court's decision to dismiss criminal charges for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to assistance of counsel, which includes the right to confer privately with that counsel. State intrusion into those private conversations blatantly violates a foundational right. The Washington State Supreme Court has strongly condemned "the odious practice of eavesdropping on privileged communication between attorney and client." *Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d at 811, citing to *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 378, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). The courts must presume that such eavesdropping results in prejudice to the defendant and must vacate criminal convictions when there was no way to isolate the prejudice to the defendant from such "shocking and

unpardonable conduct." *Id.* And, the State must show beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not prejudiced. *Id.* at 819-20.

When trial counsel belatedly learned of Stangeland's intrusion into the attorney-client relationship and her history of doing so in other cases, trial counsel was forced to choose between going to trial on the date scheduled in March 2015, or moving to continue to investigate Stangeland's actions.

When Delafuente brought her motion, the trial judge refused to dismiss because he found that Stangeland was credible when she said that she heard no privileged conversations. It appears that he concluded there was no Sixth Amendment violation. But the trial judge did not determine whether the State's actions in this case should have resulted in dismissal pursuant to CrR 8.3(b). That rule provides:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

There were multiple levels of governmental misconduct, all of which required Delafuente to choose between her right to counsel and her right to a speedy trial. First, despite the State's assurances to Delafuente and her counsel that their conversations were not being recorded, they

were. Securus was recording these calls in violation of her right to counsel.

Second, Securus provided access to all of Delafuente's calls to

Detective Stangeland. Stangeland was not given any training about how to

avoid intercepting attorney-client calls.

Third, Stangeland should have been exceedingly vigilant regarding the calls because she had previously engaged in at least one egregious violation of the attorney-client relationship. Instead, she admitted that she skipped the preamble of the call and went directly to the substance. And, she did not use the part of the program that would have showed her the records relating to the number called, and she admitted that she deliberately focused on calls before and after court hearings because "I think they'll be more likely to have a conversation about the case itself." 6/5/15 RP 23.

Fourth, the State deleted the electronic evidence of Stangeland's access to Delafuente's calls making it impossible to corroborate

Stangeland's testimony that she did not listen to the call long enough to hear privileged conversations.

Fifth, the State delayed roughly six weeks before disclosing this intrusion to Delafuente and her counsel.

Sixth, the State failed to immediately inform Delafuente's counsel that Stangeland had previously violated a defendant's right to confidential communication with his lawyer. That was material and exculpatory evidence. Stangeland's act of reading the privileged communication and covering up her misconduct by shredding the evidence is probative of her truthfulness.

These are "truly egregious [instances] of mismanagement or misconduct by the prosecutor." *State v. Duggins*, 68 Wn. App. 396, 401, 844 P.2d 441, *affirmed*, 121 Wn.2d 524, 852 P.2d 294 (1993); *State v. Garza*, 99 Wn. App. 291, 295, 994 P.2d 868, *review denied*, 141 Wn.2d 1014, 10 P.3d 1072 (2000) (citing *City of Seattle v. Orwick*, 113 Wn.2d 823, 830, 784 P.2d 161 (1989)).

In *State v. Price*, 94 Wn.2d 810, 814, 620 P.2d 994 (1980), our Supreme Court observed that:

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