FILED
Nov 21, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 74026-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SOPHIA DELAFUENTE,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RONALD KESSLER, BILL BOWMAN, AND TIMOTHY BRADSHAW, JUDGES

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE SUPERIOR COURT PROPERLY DENIED DELAFUENTE'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

Delafuente asserts that the superior court should have granted her motion to dismiss the State's case against her for first-

degree assault and rendering criminal assistance because of a fleeting intrusion by the lead police investigator into protected attorney-client communications. The inadvertent intrusion occurred on February 9, 2015, when SPD Det. Stangeland was reviewing recorded calls placed by Delafuente while she was incarcerated at the King County Jail. 3RP 5, 7. The calls were recorded by a private vendor operating under contract with the King County Department of Adult and Juvenile Detention (DAJD). 3RP 5. In one instance. Det. Stangeland heard the recipient of a call placed by Delafuente answer by stating, "Law office," followed by Delafuente asking to speak to "Anna" and being told that "Anna" was on another line.² 3RP 8-9, 29. Immediately recognizing the likelihood that the private vendor had erroneously recorded a call placed by a represented inmate to her attorney, Det. Stangeland stopped the playback of the recording and informed jail staff of the error, to ensure that recording of calls to the law office's phone number were not recorded. 3RP 9-10. Det. Stangeland testified that she learned nothing as a result of this unintentional exposure to a potentially-protected attorney-client conversation and that it did not in any way shape her investigation. 3RP 12, 19.

² Delafuente's trial counsel was Anna Gigliotti. CP 150.

In denying Delafuente's motion to dismiss due to this intrusion, the superior court found an absence of any deliberate misconduct or of any injury to Delafuente, insofar as the detective had not heard any actual substantive conversation between Delafuente and her attorney. 3RP 48, 50. The court further found Det. Stangeland's testimony to be credible. 3RP 50.

Delafuente also argued for dismissal on the ground that the State had failed to preserve the recording of the jail call to her attorney, and that this amounted to a violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). 3RP 32-33. Unbeknownst to the State, KCDAJD had, after having been alerted by Det. Stangeland that a call to an attorney's phone number had been recorded, informed its contractor of this fact, and the recording was purged from the contractor's system. 3RP 32-33, 37. The superior court declined to rule on this issue, instead inviting submission of further authority and argument from Delafuente. 3RP 49. Delafuente declined to follow up on the court's invitation and effectively abandoned this component of her dismissal motion.

Delafuente now asks this Court to reverse the lower court's rulings, definitive and otherwise. Her claims are without merit.

There is no reason for this Court to disagree with the superior court's determination that the investigator's fleeting exposure to a content-free conversation between Delafuente and her attorney's receptionist was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. And Delafuente is unable to establish a <u>Brady</u> violation here, should this Court elect to consider an argument that Delafuente abandoned below before the superior court could conclusively rule on the issue.

a. The detective's brief intrusion did not harm Delafuente.

It is a matter of well-settled law that the State is forbidden, at risk of having its charges against a defendant dismissed, from engaging in "purposeful, wrongful intrusion" into attorney-client protected communications. State v. Webbe, 122 Wn. App. 683, 697, 94 P.3d 994 (2004). However, while any intrusion into privileged information is problematic, there are circumstances where there is no possibility of prejudice to the defendant, and the extreme remedy of dismissal is not required. State v. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 819, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). The State can disprove the presumption of prejudice with proof beyond a

reasonable doubt, and a trial court's ruling on such a showing is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u> at 812, 820.

The State made such a showing here. Det. Stangeland explained, to the trial court's satisfaction, that her intrusion into an attorney-client communication consisted of nothing more than hearing the receptionist at the firm of Delafuente's attorney answer Delafuente's phone call and respond to Delafuente's request to speak to her lawyer by informing her that the lawyer was currently occupied. The trial court was further convinced that Det.

Stangeland's exposure to this inconsequential conversation was entirely accidental and the result of the failure of KCDAJD and its private vendor to ensure that the phone number for Delafuente's counsel's firm had been entered into the vendor's automated "do not record" list.

Given the absence of any malicious intent and the fact that the State learned nothing whatsoever from the investigator's passing contact with this recording, the superior court can hardly be said to have abused its discretion in finding that dismissal with prejudice was unwarranted. This situation is in no plausible way akin to cases where charges were dismissed due to deliberate, meaningful intrusion. See, e.g., State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382

P.2d 1019 (1963) (condemning police department's practice of planning covert listening devices inside jail meeting rooms where attorneys met with their incarcerated clients); State v. Granacki, 90 Wn. App. 598, 959 P.2d 67 (1998) (dismissing case because a State agent took advantage of a court recess to pore over a defense attorney's unmonitored notes during his client's trial).

b. Delafuente cannot establish a *Brady* violation.

Delafuente's claim that her convictions should be reversed, and the State's case against her dismissed with prejudice, due to purported Brady violations is difficult to address, due to the fact that she did not pursue this claim to its conclusion at the superior court, thus rendering an incomplete record for this Court to review. To this Court, Delafuente argues that dismissal is required because the State improperly destroyed the recorded phone call at issue, and because the State's delay in informing her counsel of Det. Stangeland's passing intrusion necessitated a continuance of the trial date, improperly depriving Delafuente of her right to a speedy trial. Brief of Appellant, at 1-2.

Delafuente is asking this Court to review a purportedly erroneous decision that the lower court never actually made. To satisfy RAP 2.5(a) and assert error for the first time on appeal, an

appellant must demonstrate a manifest error of constitutional magnitude. See State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). A manifest constitutional error is one which implicates a constitutional interest and has been shown by the appellant to have caused unmistakable, practical prejudice. Id. at 98-99; see also State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992).

Delafuente cannot meet her burden here. In order to establish a manifest <u>Brady</u> violation, a defendant must clearly establish three things: (1) that the evidence is favorable to the accused, because it is either exculpatory or impeaching; (2) that the evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) that the evidence is material. <u>See State v. Davila</u>, 184 Wn.2d 55, 69, 357 P.3d 636 (2015).

First, Delafuente has never claimed that the content of this call was exculpatory, and its impeachment value is dubious. The only information regarding the phone call that this Court and the lower court have been presented with is that Det. Stangeland was inadvertently exposed to the inception of a conversation between Delafuente and the receptionist employed by her attorney, and the detective credibly explained that this did not affect her investigation in any way. To engage in speculation about the remainder of the

recording and its potential impeachment value at the pretrial dismissal hearing is unjustified, particularly considering that the parties to the conversation – the defendant and her attorney's receptionist – were uniquely within the control of Delafuente's counsel, and could have provided her with additional information to share with the lower court were there any to give.

Second, as counsel for KCDAJD explained to the superior court, the jail is not a party to this case or acting on the State's behalf. 1RP 45-46. And KCDAJD does not operate the recording service, instead contracting with a private vendor. 1RP 46. The available evidence establishes that the decision to purge this call was made by those parties without consultation with the State or the detective, who merely informed jail staff that the vendor had failed to include defense counsel's phone number on its "do not record" list. It would be unreasonable to ascribe the jail's and its vendor's actions in purging the call to the State when the State was uninvolved in (and unaware of) the decision-making process to do so.

Third, the materiality criterion in <u>Brady</u> relates to the question of the defendant's *guilt*. <u>See Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419, 434, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L. Ed. 490 (1995) (holding that evidence is

prejudicial or material if the absence of the evidence undermines confidence in the verdict). Delafuente has made no showing at any stage that the content of this purged phone call – or the fact that Det. Stangeland once intruded more extensively in an unrelated case years earlier³ – somehow casts doubt on her culpability in the crimes for which she was charged. Nor can she possibly demonstrate the impeachment value of Det. Stangeland's momentary intrusion on the detective's testimony to the jury or to the authenticity of the recordings of other phone calls she made from jail, which were admitted into evidence by stipulation to their legality. 17RP 1309-10. Simply put, Delafuente's reliance on Brady for relief is misplaced.

As to Delafuente's assertion that delayed disclosure of Det. Stangeland's momentary intrusion and earlier experience caused her prejudice, it must be noted a violation of a defendant's time-to-trial rights under CrR 3.3 cannot be the basis for dismissal of a case under CrR 8.3. See State v. Kone, 165 Wn. App. 420, 436, 266 P.3d 916 (2011). Rather, the defendant must show a violation of a statute or constitutional right. Kone, 165 Wn. App. at 436-37.

³ The trial court expressly found that Det. Stangeland's years-earlier intrusion was not probative of truthfulness, and thus inadmissible under ER 608. 14RP 965.

To show a violation of the constitutional right to a speedy trial, the defendant must show, <u>inter alia</u>, that she suffered prejudice as a result of delay. <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972). The defendant bears the burden of showing that the length of the delay crossed a line from ordinary to presumptively prejudicial effect. <u>State v. Iniguez</u>, 167 Wn.2d 273, 283, 217 P.3d 768 (2015).

Here, the challenged disclosure was made well before

Delafuente's then-current time-for-trial expiration date. CP ___ (sub no. 84, Order Continuing Trial, dated Feb. 13, 2015), attached as part of Appendix A. The ensuing extension of the trial date was due to the fact that any delay — even within the current speedy trial period — would intrude on the prescheduled vacation plans of her co-defendant's counsel. 1RP 27. This was a superseding factor outside of the State's control. Moreover, although the State had charged Delafuente in April 2013, the case had not yet been tried prior to Det. Stangeland's exposure in February 2015 to the recorded call due to a series of continuances sought by Delafuente and/or her co-defendant. See Appendix A (series of Orders Continuing Trial, supplementally designated as clerk's papers for transmission to this Court). Under the circumstances, an additional

one-month delay to allow for further investigation of the issue of attorney-client intrusion and so that co-defendant's counsel to take her prescheduled vacation surely falls within the definition of ordinary delay rather than a constitutional violation. Delafuente fails to establish the degree of prejudice necessary to obtain dismissal with prejudice of the charges against her.

2. THE PRESIDING COURT PROPERLY MANAGED THE JUDICIAL CALENDAR.

Next, Delafuente asserts that the presiding court of the criminal department of the King County Superior Court erred when it postponed her trial for one day on August 5, 2015, and again on August 6, 2015, due to the fact that there were no available courtrooms to hear her case on those dates. CP 190-91.

Delafuente contends that the presiding court's one-day "rolling" of her case in each of these instances violated her right to a speedy trial, to her right to counsel, and to her right to be present at her trial. These claims lack any legal support, and should be rejected.

It is now well-settled that court congestion is not, without more, an adequate basis to continue a defendant's trial beyond the

⁴ Subsequent extensions of the trial date, and the speedy trial expiration period, were due to the unavailability of counsel, and not to additional investigation necessitated by the State's disclosure of the detective's review of jail calls. <u>See</u> Appendix A. The dismissal motion was resolved on June 5, 2015. 3RP 46-50.

existing speedy trial period. <u>See State v. Kenyon</u>, 167 Wn.2d 130, 139, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). If that were the case here, the State would not contest the merit of Delafuente's position.

However, as the written orders continuing Delafuente's trial make clear, the presiding court left Delafuente's pre-existing speedy trial expiration date of September 4, 2015, intact, expressly indicating, "Expiration date remains the same." CP 190-91. Thus, Delafuente's right to a speedy trial was never implicated by the fact that her trial date was briefly postponed. So long as her trial commenced before September 4th, Delafuente's right to a speedy trial was preserved.⁵

The "rolling" of Delafuente's trial for one day, within the defendant's speedy trial period, was an administrative proceeding within the trial court's authority, as opposed to a matter on which either party had the right to be heard. Trial courts "have the inherent authority to control and manage their calendars...." State v. Gassman, 175 Wn.2d 208, 211, 283 P.3d 1113 (2012). CrR 3.3 expressly grants a court the power to continue a trial date on its own motion, so long as it states the reason for the continuance "in writing." CrR 3.3(f)(2).

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Trial commenced before Judge Timothy Bradshaw on Aug. 10, 2015.

Delafuente cites no apposite authority for the proposition that the presiding court's exercise of its administrative authority amounts to a critical stage of the proceedings for which she had the right to have counsel present, and the absence of such authority is unsurprising. After all, if there were no available courtrooms to hear Delafuente's case, and her constitutional trial rights were unaffected by a one-day postponement, then any attempt by the parties to participate in the calendaring process would have been fruitless. ⁶ Certainly, Delafuente cannot demonstrate reversible prejudice – the outcome of a hypothetical contested hearing would have undoubtedly been the same.

In addition, it is well-established that Washington does not require a defendant's presence at a continuance hearing or status

⁶ Until January 2015, the King County Superior Court conducted a daily "trial call" in its presiding courtroom, during which the presiding judge would announce which cases were being assigned to specific courtrooms for trial, and which were being held over due to the fact that assigned counsel were in other trials, etc. The undersigned prosecutor believed, until earlier this week, that this remained the case. However, the practice was abandoned, and calendar announcements are now made via electronic distribution of a publicly-available trial calendar. See King County Superior Court Criminal Department Manual (rev. July 2016), at sec. 17.4, available at

http://www.kingcounty.gov/~/media/courts/SuperiorCourt/Docs/CriminalManual.a shx?la=en, last accessed on November 17, 2016. That this new procedure is a matter of common knowledge among trial attorneys is reflected in the fact that Delafuente and her co-defendant knew when to appear for trial and in which courtroom, and that neither raised any objection. The undersigned, who genuinely needs to participate in more trials, apologizes for his most recent request for a continuance so that the hearings conducted in the presiding courtroom on August 5 and 6, 2015, could be transcribed, in the mistaken belief that the trial call practice had not been suspended.

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